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Narrative Description

Sag Harbor Village Historic District, Suffolk County, NY

Introduction

The village of Sag Harbor is located in Suffolk County, New York on the north shore of the South Fork of
Long Island, in the towns of Southampton and East Hampton. The village encompasses about two square
miles and has a population of about 2500 people. A port from the eighteenth century, the village has a wide,
deep harbor and water on two sides. The village is relatively flat, with low hills, and is made up of one to
three story freestanding frame houses from the eighteenth to the twentieth centuries, with several nineteenth
century church steeples rising above the skyline. There are frame and masonry commercial structures dating
from the nineteenth and twentieth centuries, the tallest rising four stories. The business district, both historic
and current, 1s made up of attached or abutting structures and larger freestanding structures. It is located on
Main Street, running from the Long Wharf at the old harbor south to Spring and Sage Streets and radiating
three blocks to the east and west of Main. The village is almost entirely built up, particularly the historic
district, with a small percentage of vacant land other than park land.
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The Sag Harbor Historic District includes the historic core of the village and represents just under 50% of the
total acreage. Freestanding frame residences on small plots of land with front, rear and side yards make up
the bulk of the structures in the district, but there are four cemeteries, two large parks and the business
district as well. The house lots vary widely in size and shape, from about twenty to one hundred twenty five
feet wide and roughly one hundred to one hundred to one hundred fifty feet deep.

This historic district is an expansion of the Sag Harbor Historic District, listed on the National Register in
1973. It was expanded based on new information and research uncovered during a comprehensive 1990 survey.
This form supersedes the old form. The expanded district is about 35% larger in land area and has 305 more
primary buildings, 136 more ancillary buildings, 1 more structure, 3 more sites and 2 more objects than the old
district.  The expansion is based on documentation in the 1991 Sag Harbor Survey undertaken by the village
under the guidance of the State Historic Preservation Office. The study area for this survey was larger than the
new district and incorporated approximately 1200 primary structures and features.

There are 698 contributing primary buildings, 7 sites, 2 structures, and 3 objects in the district and its
expansion. There are 458 contributing primary buildings, 4 sites, 1 structure, and 3 objects in the old district
and 240 contributing primary buildings, 3 sites and 1 structure in the expansion. There are 122 non
contributing primary buildings, 2 non contributing objects and 1 non contributing site in the district and its
expansion, with 59 non contributing buildings and one non contributing site in the old district and 63 non
contributing buildings and 2 non contributing objects in the expansion. There are 172 contributing ancillary
buildings, primarily garages and sheds, 62 of which are in the expansion. There are 195 non contributing
ancillary buildings, 76 of which are in the expansion. The few modern intrusions are primarily later twentieth
century houses which are low rise frame structures similar to the historic buildings. Other non contributing
primary structures are older buildings which have been so extensively altered that they lack historical

significance.
Boundaries

The boundaries have been drawn to include as much as possible of the historic village within the period of
significance and as much of the waterfront as possible. Individual and groups of non contributing structures
have been excluded at the edges of the district. Beginning at the north, starting at the Long Wharf, the
district takes in the Long Wharf and proceeds east along the water (Shelter Island Sound) to the end of the Sag
Harbor Yacht Club building, approximately across from Rysam Street. Excluded are the modern and altered
industrial structures east of the Yacht Club. There were industries connected with whaling and maritime trade
in the nineteenth century along Bay Road near the Long Wharf but major fires in the nineteenth century (the
last in 1845 and 1877) destroyed the buildings. Included in the district on the south side of Bay Street 1s a mix
of nineteenth and twentieth century commercial and industrial structures. They represent the last of the pre-
World War II industrial structures along the waterfront.
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The outstanding former Havens Estate, Haven Harbor Home, is included in the district on the north side of
Bay Street, which originally took in the current Queen Anne style house and property as well as Havens Beach.
The northern part of the district ends at the western border of Havens Beach. Havens Beach is excluded
because the addition of a road and such municipal structures as playground equipment and benches has
changed its appearance from estate property to municipal park. The altered twentieth century frame houses on
Bay Street to the south of Havens Beach are excluded, but the more intact nineteenth century residences
further east are included up to Shore Road. The post World War II resort communities of Azurest and
Ninevah lie east of Havens Beach. The houses are not fifty years old and they do not fit in with Sag Harbor’s
period of significance but they deserve future study as early resort communities built for African Americans.

On the south side of Bay Street the boundaries for the district take in the nineteenth century frame houses
between Dering Road and Hempstead Street, but exclude the altered and later twentieth century frame
residences just east of Prospect Avenue on Bay Street and the post World War 11 residences on Franklin Street

just south of Bay.

The eastern boundary at the north takes in the unique nineteenth century African American and Native
American community of Eastville. Eastville is situated primarily to the south of Hempstead Avenue, which is a
continuation of Bay Street. Azurest (see above) is located on the north side of Hempstead Avenue. The
district ends on Hempstead Street before four modern houses just west of the junction of Hempstead and
Hampton. On Hampton Street, the district ends before a modern house at the corner of Hempstead, taking
in the north side of Hampton Street. Hampton is a wide, two lane highway with a gas station and primarily
modern construction on the south side at this point which relates to the modern development to the south.

At the south east, the district takes in the significant north half of Eastville Avenue, which is part of the
Eastville community. The south half, near St. James Place, contains modern residences and is excluded.
There is a modern 1980’s housing development at the south east, also excluded.

The north side of Grand Street - Pierson High School - marks the south east border of the district,
between Division Street and Montauk Avenue. The south side of Grand and both sides of Harrison Street
have been left out because they are composed almost exclusively of extensively altered early twentieth century
and post World War II houses which do not relate to the district. The significant nineteenth century frame
residences on Division and Madison Streets are included as far south as Harrison Street, however. The
neighborhood directly to the south and east, beyond the border streets of Eastville Avenue and Grand Street,
is residential but of an entirely different character. The houses are modern, post World War II, primarily
1960’s, with disparate proportions, materials, landscaping, layout and relationship to the street and are
excluded.

Oakland Cemetery marks part of the southern border. The cemetery’s land continues south to Middle Line
Road but only the old, nineteenth century part of the cemetery approximately up to a line even with Harrison
Street 1s included. The Victorian houses facing the nineteenth century cemetery on Suffolk, also up to a line
even with Harrison Street, are included. The post-World War II houses to the south on Suffolk are of a
different age, style and proportion than those in the district and have been excluded.

The nineteenth century houses on Jermain Avenue, including Byram’s Oakland Cottage, are in the district.
This is the southernmost street: the residential development to the south is modern and of a different style,
layout, and scale to those in the district and is excluded.

— - ——
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Mashashimuet Park forms the southern boundary of the district at the south west. The large park, once a
nineteenth century fairgrounds, is an anchor for the district at this end. This was the outskirts of town in the
nineteenth and early twentieth centuries and modern, post-World War II houses as well as wetlands are next to
the park on the east, at Joel's Lane, and also on the south, which is outside the village border.

Mashashimuet Park forms the western boundary of the district at the south end. The west side of Main Street,
facing the park, is not included in the district. Main Street, one of the earliest roads in the village, is a broad
two lane highway at this point. The old residential character of the district is broken up by a modern gas
station on Brick Kiln Road as well as a group of modern houses. While nineteenth century altered residences
face the park south of this intrusion, they do not visually and geographically belong to the core village. The
residences on the east side of Main Street next to the park are excluded for the same reason.

Both sides of Main Street heading north from the north side of Brick Kiln Road form the western edge of the
district for one block. The region to the west at this south end is excluded. It was farmland and is now a mix of
open land and nineteenth and twentieth century houses set back farther from the street and from each other

than the more urban layout in the village.

Continuing south, both sides of John Street form the western edge of the district. John Street contains a
typical Sag Harbor mix of nineteenth century whaling and resort period homes, in Greek Revival, late
Italianate, Queen Anne and Colonial Revival styles. To the south, Columbia and West Henry Streets contain
almost entirely post World War II houses and are excluded. These streets abut the village Department of
Highways yard and a fire house. One excellent Victorian frame house directly next to John Street on Columbia
is included in the district. At the western edge, on the north side, the district ends with a sharp bend in the
road on John Street; on the south side, it ends at a pond. The residences around the bend are excluded
because they date from the later twenticth century and differ in character and style from the Sag Harbor blocks

in the district.

Upper Sag Harbor Cove marks the western boundary of the district to Long Island Avenue. This part of the
village was a winter feeding ground for livestock in the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries. The district
includes the small, early nineteenth century frame houses on Glover Street up to Long Island Avenue on the
west and on the east includes an additional four houses to the north. The area directly to the north contains a
block of post World War II houses which are excluded because they are different in character, proportions and
placement from the district. There are extensively altered nineteenth century houses to the north of this block,
along with two significant nineteenth century houses at the far north end of Glover which are excluded because
they are separated from the district by modern and altered structures. There is open land which was once part
of a farm on the east side of Glover but is excluded because it has had alterations in its landscape, including the

fencing and farm structures.

To the east, Bayview Avenue and Meadowlark Lane are excluded because they contain post World War II
houses and extensively altered earlier twentieth century residences. Howard, Garden and Spring Streets, with
their significant early nineteenth century houses, are included in the district, roughly to Long Island Avenue,
with vacant lots at four corners excluded.
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On the north, west of the Long Wharf, the waterfront is about 90 per cent modern (post WW2 and mainly
post-1965) construction. While the harbor is the most significant element on this north west side of the Long
Wharf, the area next to the harbor has been excluded because of the complete prevalence of modern
structures. The northern boundary of this part of the district extends behind Main Street to the nearest
coherent block of eligible structures, on the south side of Spring Street.

Development Patterns

Sag Harbor was originally a region of hills, marshes, ponds, and bodies of water. The earliest road was along
the harbor but this was just a path which was frequently submerged. The first major roads ran in a ’Y” pattern
on a north/south axis, and this is how the village developed. This 'Y’ pattern still exists. The first lots were
laid out in 1745 south from the Long Wharf along Main Street and also to the east from the Long Wharf. By
the late eighteenth century the village was settled as far east as Rysam and as far south as the Old Burying
Ground on Union Street. As the village grew during the height of the whaling period in the early nineteenth
century, development, residential in particular, continued to march south from the harbor along the primary
north/south streets of Main, Madison, Division and Hampton, with secondary streets radiating from these.
There was also commercial development along the waterfront, but most of these structures were destroyed in
the devastating nineteenth century fires. Large sections of Bay Street and all of Water Street are excluded
from the historic district because of a lack of significant structures due to the fires. Sag Harbor still retains its
orientation to the harbor as well as its eighteenth and early nineteenth century street patterns.

By the mid-nineteenth century when whaling declined, Main Street was built up to about Otter Pond, Madison
Street to about Marsden Street, Division Street to about Henry Street and Hampton to about Jermain Avenue.
The Eastville area, a few blocks farther south off Hampton was also settled at this time. The side streets
further south of the harbor were much more sparsely built up. Local industry, such as Fahys Watchcase
Factory, accounted for some development in the areas around the factories in the later nineteenth century, but
it wasn’t until Sag Harbor became a popular resort town in the later nineteenth century that building seriously

began again.

Areas of the district developed for the working population in the late nineteenth century include parts of Grand,
Harrison, Marsden and Hamilton Streets and Montauk Avenue. They were laid out by the Latham family
before 1853 but because of the declining economy and the swamps and thick forests, development did not
occur until later in the century. Those lots which fronted Madison and Hampton Streets developed first, but
most of the lots were developed between 1873 and 1902. Other district streets with both factory and resort
workers’ housing include Franklin and Suffolk Streets, Oakland and Jermain Avenues. On the west side of
the village, cottages were constructed on John Street in this period.

In the later nineteenth and early twentieth centuries, the popularity of Sag Harbor as a resort generated
building in the undeveloped areas of the village in the south and east, as well as on many of the other unbuilt
lots. It was the presence of this unbuilt land that probably helped save the older housing stock of the whaling
period. The Sag Harbor Real Estate Company developed the land between Hampton St. and the water.
Franklin Street and Prospect Avenue were laid out between 1890 and 1902, and several houses on Bay Street
were also built in this period. The area became more completely associated with the resort context with the
construction of the Frank Havens estate on Bay Street in 1905-7. Palmer Terrace was opened in 1891 on
Huntting Hill and contains large, Queen Anne style homes built as summer cottages and occasional full time
residence.

— e
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Mrs. Russell Sage had a great deal of influence on the town. She was responsible for the landscaping of the old
Fair Grounds on the south west edge of town, turning it into Mashashimuet Park, and of Otter Pond Park

across the street. She also restored and moved several houses and donated funds for the John Jermain
Memorial Library and Pierson High School.

Architectural Characteristics

The district is composed mainly of free standing wood frame residences dating from the late eighteenth through
the mid-twentieth century. The bulk of these are houses, one to three stories high and two to five bays wide.
Wood shingles are the most popular wall cladding, followed by clapboard and asbestos shingles. The gabled
roof is the most common profile. Windows are multi-paned double hung sash. Houses are sited close to the
street in the areas built up in the early nineteenth century and farther back from the street in neighborhoods
developed in the late nineteenth and twentieth centuries. Wooden picket fences, some dating from the
nineteenth century, are the most popular form of fencing in the district. The majority of the houses in the
district have outbuildings, primarily garages and sheds with a few barns, workshops and studios. There are
nineteenth century outbuildings and a large number of early twentieth century garages, complete with original
swinging and sliding doors. The commercial buildings in the district, almost all located on Main, Madison,
Division and Hampton Streets, are wood frame and masonry, from one to three stories high. There are
larger brick industrial and institutional structures scattered throughout the district.

The major architectural styles in the district are: Federal, Greek Revival, Gothic Revival, Italianate,
Queen Anne, Folk Victorian, and Colonial Revival. Frequently more than one style was combined on a
single building. In addition, popular stylistic elements such as the Federal mantel frame doorway and classical
Greek Revival features such as dentilled cornices and doorways with transom, sidelights and pilasters were
used for more than one hundred years past the popularity of the style and are still being installed today.

The Federal style was popular from about 1780 to 1820 nationally and lasted in Sag Harbor until about 1830.
Derived from the English Adam style, in Sag Harbor it is characterized by square proportions, side gabled
roof, symmetrical and evenly spaced placement of door and windows, the use of a fanlight or transom over the
door, decorative Palladian windows and half or quarter round windows, delicate, rounded ornament, such as
a leaded transoms or slim fluted pilasters, and prominent chimneys located near the roof ridge. The houses
are frame, three bay side hall plan or five bay central hall plan, one and one half to two and one half stories
high. Originally they were often clad with clapboards in front and sometimes shingles on the sides. The
original windows, some of which survive in Sag Harbor, were multi-paned wooden sash, six-over-six light,
twelve-over-twelve light or variations from six to twelve lights. The Federal style was often combined with the
classical Georgian style at the turn of the eighteenth century and with the equally angular, classical Greek
Revival style in the 1830-40’s.

The houses of this period in Sag Harbor were not in the highest style but they were more ornamented and
fashionable than neighboring towns, due most probably to the increased prosperity of the town and the
presence of skilled carpenters from the thriving marine trade. The architectural pattern books which gave
examples of ornament for carpenters to copy were important in the development of these styles, although there
18 no evidence at this time to prove that Sag Harbor builders used them.
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The Greek Revival style was popular during the height of the prosperous whaling period and appears on nearly
every street in the village, in particular on Main, Madison, Division and Hampton as well as the side streets
as far south as Henry. The architectural vocabulary of the style was applied to high style and vernacular
structures. The style was popular in Sag Harbor from about 1830 to 1860, roughly coinciding with its use in the
rest of the country. The Greek Revival style is classically inspired and is heavier and more angular than
Federal. Greek Revival houses in Sag Harbor are frame, generally with three bay side hall plans, with side
gabled roofs as well as front gabled roofs, often with pedimented gables or with return cornices. The cornices
are molded and projecting. Entrances are framed by flat, angular pilasters as well as sidelights and transoms,
both with rectangular, plain lights. Ornamental trim includes fretwork, dentilled cornices, architrave
windows and columns in a few cases. Originally the houses were often clad in clapboards and the most
common window type is the six-over-six light wooden sash, evenly spaced on the facade. Eyebrow windows in

the attic were popular.

Some of the houses in this period were of high style, while others were vernacular copies. The period builders’
handbooks, such as Asher Benjamin’s The Practical House Carpenter (1830) and Minard Lafever’s The Beauties
of Modern Architecture (1835), were used and influenced the design of the houses. Minard Lafever worked in
Sag Harbor. Greek Revival elements continued to be used on houses well into the twentieth century and are

being used in restorations today.

The mid nineteenth century marked a turn from the classical to the picturesque. Eclectic, revival styles were
popular, including Gothic Revival, Italianate, Queen Anne and Folk Victorian. The ¢. 1840-70 Gothic
Revival style is characterized by the steeply pitched front gable which extends unbroken from the wall surface
and 1s often decorated with a vergeboard. This type of house is more scarce than Federal, Greek Revival or
Itahanate. The houses are usually small, with a square or occasionally an L-shaped plan. The windows are not
uniform on the facade. Some are paired and the gable windows are often more elaborate. There is usually a
window with a Gothic pointed arch, drip molding or an Italianate round arch. There is sometimes an oriel
window as well as a porch in front. The Gothic style was used for churches in the district through the twentiecth

century.

The Italianate style was popular in the village from about the 1840’s to the 1890’s. The style 1s characterized by
arched openings, curved brackets, porches, paired or triple windows, and two-over-two light sash. Cladding
is clapboard or shingle, roofs are usually front or side gabled, cornices project and have brackets. There are
bay windows and the plan is no longer rectangular but accommodates wings and extensions. Like the Gothic
Revival, the style is represented more frequently by its elements - added porches, bracketed cornices -
than by houses built entirely in the Italianate style.

The later Victorian styles were popular in the resort era and many survive today. Houses in the Queen Anne
style were built in the district from about 1880 to 1910. Asymmetricality is the hallmark of the style. The
houses are larger than earlier houses, with gabled roofs, turrets, projecting bays, and wrap around porches
with turned posts and decorative wooden trim. The frame buildings have irregular plans and shingle cladding,
with clapboard and novelty shingles used as decoration. Windows are paired or individual and a characteristic
type is the one-over-one wooden sash window with small panes around the edge on the top light.
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The classical Colonial Revival style supplanted Queen Anne and the two are often combined in the 1890’s and
early 1900’s. The Colonial Revival style was popular in Sag Harbor in the 1890’s and continues to be used
today. These frame houses vary dramatically in size, from large Queen Anne-type house plans to small
rectangular structures. There are classical features, including columns at the door or supporting the porch,
Palladian windows, fanlight windows at the center hall entrance, and shingle and occasionally clapboard
cladding. Windows are often one-over-one light wooden sash, many with the Queen Anne type border panes.
They are often paired. Later twentieth century Colonial Revival houses are simpler, without projections and
porches. They often have pedimented door surrounds and dentilled cornices. The Colonial Revival columned
portico was a common addition to older houses in the district in the twentieth century.

Wood frame architecture by its nature needs frequent maintenance and occasional replacement of elements.
The integrity of these buildings cannot be judged by the same standards as those for masonry structures. Most
of the buildings in the district have been resurfaced at one time. Most houses have additions. This has been
such a universal practice that many houses (some dating from the early nineteenth century) were built with a
rear addition as part of the original design. The addition of porches and porticoes is also prevalent. Moving
houses from one location to another was a widespread village practice and over two dozen moved houses in the
district are documented: there were probably many more. These practices date from the eighteenth century
and have been continued over the years in an unbroken tradition. The addition of nineteenth century Victorian
porches and twentieth century Colonial Revival porticoes was routine in the district.

Remarkably, a great deal of the wood trim has survived as have some of the oldest windows. For example, it
1s possible to see delicate Federal style transoms, elegant Greek Revival style corner boards, pilasters and
cornices, Gothic Revival style vergeboards, Italianate style brackets, Victorian jigsawn balustrades, Queen
Anne decorative shingles or Colonial Revival Doric columns on any block in the district. The proportions,
siting, door and window configuration and roofline have also survived in the majority of the houses.

Archaeological Charactenistics

Sag Harbor has been the site of human settlement for hundreds of years. Significant remains of Native
American settlement have not been found. All of Sag Harbor was designated an area of intensive aboriginal
habitation in the 1978 Suffolk County Resources Inventory. This same publication lists early twentieth century
sources which indicate Native American sites and artifacts. While many sites have been disturbed by building
but there are a few sites: vacant lots, back yards, parks, roads and cemeteries that could have significant
remains. The earliest part of the village, located in the business district, is also likely to have been obliterated
by building, but it is also possible that archaeological remains can be found in undisturbed areas. Evidence of
the foundations of the waterfront industrial buildings can be seen in shadings in the vacant land and it is very
likely that archaeological evidence can be found underground (see Suzan Habib, Sag Harbor Board of
Historic Preservation and Architectural Review, unpublished photos of artifacts at Bay Street Con Edison
excavation as well as of Zachary’s Point). Shipwrecks have been found in the water, along the waterfront (H.
W. Moeller, Southampton College, unpublished notes and map) and it is very likely that the waterfront holds
significant remains of piers, wharfs, docks and ships.
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De.scriplion
Main Street

Main Street, the road to Bridgehampton, was opened in about 1775 in its present form. It is the major street
in the district and incorporates most of the business district at the north end near the Long Wharf as well as the
most elaborate residences from the whaling era.  The business district is described later. Both major parks,
Mashashimuet and Otter Pond, are located along Main Street as is the old Custom House, the Whaling and
Historical Museum and the John Jermain Memorial Library.

Mashashimuet Park (TAX ID #903-5-2-4) marks the end of the district and the village boundary. It was the
Hampton Fairground in 1878-9. Mrs. Russell Sage bought the dilapidated park in 1908 and hired the
architectural and landscaping firm of Samuel Parsons to lay out the grounds for a children’s playground and
playing fields. The grandstand, maintenance building, and director’s house date from 1908. Mrs. Sage
purchased Otter Pond Park (TAX ID #903-6-1-1) across the street in 1910 and had it landscaped to make it
accessible to the public.

Some of the finest residences in the district line Main Street. The earliest good example of a district residence
is the Long Island Herald House (TAX ID #903-3-2-34). This is a one and one half story, three bay Colonial
frame house with a steeply pitched roof, clapboard and asphalt wall cladding and a stone foundation. The
early rear addition and later nineteenth century porch are incorporated into the roof line. There are eighteenth
century features in the interior, as well as paintings by the artist Annie Cooper Boyd, who lived here. The
Custom House (TAX ID #903-3-2-31.1), dating from about 1790, was moved to Main Street from the north
east corner of Church and Union Streets in 1945. It was built as the residence of Henry Packer Dering, who
was Collector of the Port as well as Postmaster and is an example of a two and one half story, five bay Federal
style frame house. There is a mantel frame entrance, two prominent chimneys and a steeply pitched side gable
roof on this shingled structure. The house at TAX ID #903-3-2-40 is typical of a Federal style half house.
Dating from about 1790-1800, the two and one half story, three bay house has clapboard siding, twelve-over-
twelve light wooden sash windows, and a mantel frame doorway with a transom above the door. The Sybil
Douglas House (TAX ID #903-3-2-48) is a good example of the five bay late eighteenth century house. This c.
1790 Georgian style frame house has a gambrel roof with a pediment at the roof above the entrance, two
prominent chimneys at the ridge line, a wide doorway with an elliptical transom and sidelights and a
modillioned cornice. The Van Scoy House (TAX ID #903-3-3-30) is a good example of a late Federal style
house. The c. 1810 two and one half story, three bay frame house has an imposing mantel frame doorway with
a cornice with wide dentils, matching those at the roof line. There is an Adamesque design transom above the
door and typical quarter round windows in the side gable of the gambrel roof.

The Benjamin Huntting House, now the Whaling and Historical Museum (TAX ID #903-3-2-17), is the finest
example of Greek Revival style architecture in the district. Built in about 1845, the design of the two story,
five bay house is attributed to the architect Minard Lafever. The most prominent feature of this elaborate
frame house is the full height pedimented portico supported by four Corinthian columns. The two story shafts
have been replaced by aluminum shafts but the wooden capitals are original. There are ornate window
pediments, a dentilled cornice, a carved wooden cresting and other Greek Revival style trim.  The former
Cove Hotel (TAX ID #903-4-2-17) was built in about 1835-40 as a Greek Revival style half house, two stories
high with shingle wall cladding and a pedimented gable. There is a Greek Revival style entrance with pilasters
supporting an entablature and sidelights and transom framing the door. Later Italianate style brackets and a
recessed two story addition date from about 1889 when the house was converted into a hotel. The
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L’Hommedieu House (TAX ID #903-3-1-54) is a brick townhouse, unusual for Sag Harbor. The c. 1840
Greek Revival style residence has brownstone trim, a wooden cornice with eyebrow windows in the frieze and a
portico with four Doric columns supporting an entablature.

The Napier-Howell House (TAX ID #903-3-1-81) is a full five bay wide, two and one half story c. 1833 Greek
Revival style house which was renovated into an Italianate style house in the mid-nineteenth century. The
shingle clad house has a modillioned cornice, large triple arched window above the entrance with a bracketed
gable at the roof line, an ornate, arched, bracketed porch at the side and a cupola with arched windows. The
Hannibal French House (TAX ID #903-3-2-32) is a c. 1790 house renovated in the Italianate style in about
1860. It is one of the finest in the district. Attributed to Minard Lafever, the two story, five bay frame house
has a large bracketed cornice, triangular second floor window pediments, a bracketed portico with rope
columns with Corinthian capitals and a matching side porch.

While Main Street is known for its late eighteenth and early nineteenth century architecture, there is an
excellent example of a Craftsman style vacation house at TAX ID #903-3-2-16. The Wilson House, part of
the Sage Estate, is a one and one half story, four bay frame house with stucco walls, a jerkin headed gable
roof, an Arts and Crafts type wooden door and a large dormer which pierces the roof line. There is a
matching three car garage. The John Jermain Memorial Library (TAX ID #903-3-3-70) is a monumental
brick and stone public building, unusual for Sag Harbor. Designed in 1910 by Augustus N. Allen and built for
the village by Mrs. Russell Sage, the library has a monumental pedimented portico echoing the Benjamin
Huntting House. The Classical Revival style structure sits on a stone base and the facades are divided by brick
pilasters. R. Guastavino & Company built the copper dome.

Madison Street

Madison Street was the road to Sagaponack and follows its late eighteenth century route. The earliest feature
on the road is the Old Burying Ground (TAX ID #903-3-4-27), used between 1767 and 1840. There are
headstones from this period, primarily sandstone, and a c. 1880-1900 iron fence. There are two good
examples of Greek Revival style half houses on Madison. The c. 1835 Crowell House (TAX ID #903-3-4-50)
is a two and one half story frame house with clapboard siding and a stone foundation. There is a cornice with
eyebrow windows, beaded corner boards and an entrance framed by pilasters with sidelights and a transom
around the door. There is a later front porch, a typical Sag Harbor addition. The c. 1840-50 frame house at
TAX ID #903-6-4-50 is a two story residence with characteristic clapboard siding in the front and shingles on
the side. There is a pedimented gable, corner pilasters and an entrance with a transom over the door, flanked

by pilasters supporting a simple entablature.

There are a number of later nineteenth century houses on Madison. There is a good example of the Gothic
Revival style at TAX ID #903-3-3-43, The two and one half story, three bay frame house has shingle siding,
and a projecting gable in the center of the facade with paired brackets at the cornice and a paneled frieze.
There is also a mantel frame entrance. The two and one half story, three bay Italianate style frame house at
TAX ID #903-6-3-38 dates from 1870. It has a cross gabled roof with a bracketed cornice, paired arched
windows in the gable and an entrance with pilasters. transom and sidelights which highlights the continuing
popularity of the Greek Revival style in Sag Harbor. The c. 1900 house at TAX ID #903-6-3-36 is a good
example of a Folk Victorian house, a style popular at the turn of the century for modest worker’s and resort
houses. The simple two story, two bay frame house has shingle wall cladding and a gabled roof with novelty
shingles in the gable. There is an arched entrance porch in the original side extension and decorative windows

with small panes around the borders.
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Division & Hampton Streets

The northern end of Division Street, once called Exchange Highway, was part of the early nineteenth century
road to East Hampton. Division Street is a narrow road which marks the borderline of the towns of
Southampton and East Hampton. It is lined primarily with one and one half to two and one half story frame
nineteenth century houses. There are industrial and commercial buildings at the northern end in the business
district, many of which are converted residences. The two late eighteenth century structures on Division were
residential buildings later converted to commercial and industrial use. The 1770 Umbrella House (TAX 1D
#302-2-2-34.2), a unique one story, three bay masonry house, was used for industrial purposes in the twentieth
century but is now vacant. It is theorized that the large roof might have been thatched, although there is no
evidence today. The 1792 house at TAX ID #903-2-3-10 is now a restaurant. The one story, three bay half
house was moved to this site at an unknown date. Early or original features include nine-over-six light wooden
sash windows, a transom above the door and a boxed wooden gutter. The side of the old Fahy’s Watchcase
factory (described later) is on Division Street. Two fine Italianate style frame houses are located next door.
Dating from 1885-1900, they were probably built by the company as worker’s housing, although on a larger and
more elaborate scale than most in the district. The house at TAX ID #903-3-4-15 is two stories high and three
bays wide, with clapboard wall cladding and a cross gabled roof. There is an Italianate bracketed cornice, a
portico with the same cornice, architrave window lintels and a bay window on the side facade with paired
brackets. The house at TAX ID #903-3-4-16 is very similar but does not have a portico.

There are two outstanding early nineteenth century residences located at the northern end of the street. The
Rysam Sleight House (TAX ID #302-2-2-40) is a transitional Georgian/Federal style house built in about 1800.
The large two and one half story, five bay house has clapboard wall cladding, a gabled roof with fanlight
windows in the gable, fluted corner pilasters and an entrance with a transom, sidelights and engaged fluted
columns. There is an early twentieth century pedimented portico in a similar classical style. The Sleight House
next door was built in about 1840 in a transitional Federal to Greek Revival style. There is a pedimented gable
with a fanlight, four chimneys with corbelled caps and an entrance with a transom and Adamesque design
sidelights and engaged fluted columns. There is an early twentieth century columned portico.

There are three nineteenth century churches along the street with associated structures, rectories, a church hall
and a mid-twentieth century school. The former People’s Baptist Church is now a residence. The most
outstanding church is St. Andrew’s Roman Catholic Church (TAX ID #903-3-4-17), a two story, three bay
Gothic Revival style frame structure built in 1872 and enlarged in a similar style in 1892. There is a projecting,
pointed arch entrance topped by a steeple as well as nineteenth century stained glass windows. Thereis a

French Second Empire style rectory next door.

Hampton Street runs roughly along the line of the East Hampton Turnpike, which was straightened and
improved in the mid-1840’s. There are a large number of early and mid nineteenth century Greek Revival style
half houses on the street as well as later nineteenth century Folk Victorian and Queen Anne style residences.
The far southern end of Hampton Street is in the Eastville neighborhood and is described later.

The east side of Hampton between Division and Elizabeth Streets is an entire blockfront of early nineteenth
century frame half houses, most in the Greek Revival style. The four best and most intact are at TAX ID
#302-2-8-8, 302-2-8-11,12 & 13. They are all two and one halt stories high and three bays wide with stone or
brick foundations. TAX ID #302-2-8-8, c. 1830-40, has shingle wall cladding, a side gabled roof, corner
pilasters and an entrance topped by an entablature with a dentilled cornice supported by pilasters, with
transom and sidelights around the door. There is a cornice with later Italianate brackets.

—————
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TAX ID #302-2-8-11, c. 1835-50, has clapboard wall cladding and a pedimented front gabled roof with a
triangular window in the gable. There are corner pilasters with fretwork designs and an entrance with
sidelights. TAX ID #302-2-8-12, c. 1835-50, has shingle wall cladding and a pedimented, front gabled roof
with a triangular window in the gable, corner pilasters, an entrance with sidelights and a later Victorian porch.
TAX ID #302-2-8-13, c. 1835-45, has aluminum siding and a side gabled roof. There are corner pilasters,

two prominent chimneys and an entrance with pilasters, sidelights and a transom.

Two Greek Revival style frame half houses of note on the next block dating from 1830-40 are also two and one
half stories high and three bays wide. TAX ID #302-5-2-4 has shingle wall cladding, a stone foundation and a
side gabled roof. There are characteristic eyebrow windows and an entrance with an entablature, transom and
sidelights. TAX ID #302-5-2-5 has clapboard siding, a brick foundation and a side gabled roof. There is a
dentilled cornice, corner pilasters and an entrance with a large surround, transom and sidelights. There 1s a
later nineteenth century wrap around porch.

The Dering House at TAX ID #302-2-7-321s a large, two and one half story, five bay Greek Revival style
house dating from about 1830-40. There '« a bracketed cornice with eyebrow windows in the frieze, corner
pilasters and an entrance with pilasters supporting an entablature, with a transom and sidelights around the
door. The house at TAX ID #302-2-7-26 is a good example of the larger, later nineteenth Queen Anne style
houses on Hampton. It is two and one half stories high, five bays wide, with shingle wall cladding. There is a
rear corner tower with a conical roof, a wrap around porch with square posts and brackets, a projecting side
bay and architrave window trim.

Bay Street

There was a road along the shore throughout the eighteenth century, but the present path of Bay Street dates
from the nineteenth century. It was called Shore Road and then East Water Street before it was known as Bay
Street by the 1870’s. Bay Street contains a wide mix of structures. There are masonry and frame, one to three
story high commercial and residential structures dating from the early nineteenth century to the later twentieth
century. The Long Wharf (TAX ID #302-1-1-2) sits on Bay Street at the head of Main Street. There has
been a long pier in this location since the late eighteenth century. The current concrete and asphalt pier is of
modern construction but it was rebuilt on the site of older piers and it is likely that parts of the old structures
exist under the new pier. The former Hampton Flour Mill (TAX ID #302-1-1-3a) one building to the east is,
along with the former Fahy’s Watchcase Company building, one of the two major nineteenth century industrial
structures in the district. The 1879, three story, three bay brick structure has segmental arched windows with
stone sills, a corbelled brick cornice and a large rear addition stretching toward the water. The Fahy’s
Company worker’s house at TAX ID #302-3-7-11 is another example of Sag Harbor’s industrial period. The c.
1903, two story, three bay frame house has shingle wall cladding and a front gabled roof. The simple house
has dormers with return cornices and decorative shingles on the facade.

The sprawling former Havens Estate dominates the north side of Bay Street. It is now broken up into two
sections, Cor Maria and Havens Beach. Havens Beach is now a park and excluded from the district due to
alterations. The Cor Maria property consists of the main estate house and outbuildings. The main house,
Haven Harbor Home (TAX ID #302-2-1-8), is a large 1905-7 Queen Anne style house, two and one half
stories high with shingle siding and a hipped roof. It was designed by a New York City architect named Leicht,
possibly the Adolph Leicht who designed 508 Broome Street in New York City. The house has the typical
asymmetric elements of the style: a porte cochere with columns, porches, a bracketed and dentilled cornice,
three octagonal towers, and grouped windows above the entrance. There are two other major structures on
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the property, both dating from 1910: a two story carriage house and a two and one half story residence.

Union, Jefferson, Amity, Latham, Suffolk, Concord, Rogers, Henry, William Streets
& Jermain Avenue

The streets between Main, Madison and Division Streets, from Union Street on the north at the end of the
present business district to Jermain Avenue on the south were laid out by the first half of the nineteenth century
and form the core of the nineteenth century residential architecture in the district. In 1850, most of the
structures were located on Main, Madison and Division Streets; there were two or three houses per block on
each of the side streets. Suffolk Street extends one block east of Jermain along Oakland Cemetery but is
:vcluded in this section. These one and two block long streets are typical of the east-west cross streets in the

district.

Union Street is a narrow, two block long residential street dominated by the Whaler’s Presbyterian Church and
Old Burying Ground. The church (TAX ID #903-3-4-28) is a spectacular Egyptian Revival style frame church
designed in 1843-4 by Minard Lafever. The shingle clad building has battered walls and a projecting entrance
bay once topped by a steeple that was blown down in a hurricane in 1938. The Old Burying Ground cemetery
(TAX ID #903-3-4-27) was used between 1767 and 1840 and has sandstone gravestones from that period. It 1s
one of the oldest cultural landscapes in the village. St. Andrew’s Church parking lot and the side of the French
Second Empire rectory take up an entire blockfront. The former Stephen B. French house (TAXID
#903-3-3-67) is on Union. The three story, three bay frame house is a Federal half house which was
remodeled into an elaborate Italianate villa in about 1876. It is clad in clapboard and shingles with a bracketed
front gable with arched windows, a front porch with columns and arched double doors above the porch.

Jefferson Street is a very narrow, one block long residential street with a sharp bend in the middle. Most of
the houses are sited close to the street on small building lots. It is lined primarily with early nineteenth century
Federal and Greek Revival style residences as well as a few later nineteenth and twentieth century houses. The
oldest house on the block is the Captain N. Forol House at TAX ID #903-3-3-32, dating from the end of the
eighteenth century. The one and one half story Federal style half house typically has clapboard cladding in front
and shingle cladding on the sides. There is a mantel frame doorway with an Adamesque style transom. The
house next door, at TAX ID #903-3-3-33, is a good example of a transitional Federal /Greek Revival style.
Situated on a large plot of land with a carriage house on the property, the two story, five bay frame house has
clapboard wall cladding. There is an entrance with pilasters supporting an paneled entablature, with an
Adamesque style transom and sidelights framing the door. The addition of a mid-nineteenth century bracketed
cornice and a twentieth century columned portico are typical of the type of alterations to early nineteenth
century Sag Harbor houses. The two story, three bay shingled Federal style house next to this, at TAX ID
#903-3-3-58, is another good example of the half house, with its Adamesque style transom and sidelights at the
entrance.

Amity Street is a narrow, one block long street with only three simple, astylar houses facing the street.
Latham Street is a one block long residential street lined with modest resort homes from the later nineteenth
century. The c. 1890 folk Victorian house at TAX ID #903-3-4-62.2 is a good example of this simplified
version of the higher style houses that were built on other streets. The two story, three bay frame house has
clapboard cladding and beaded corner boards. There are overhanging eaves, a projecting front gable and a
wrap around porch with turned posts, balustrade and millwork.
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Suffolk Street in the district is a narrow four block long residential street with frame houses spanning one and
one half centuries, from about 1790 to 1950. The eastern third contains the oldest and also the most
significant houses. There is a sidewalk on one side and the houses are sited close to the street. The earliest
house (TAX ID #903-3-3-56), dating from about 1790, exhibits a later Greek Revival style. The front of the
one and one half story, five bay frame house might actually be an 1835 extension to the 1790 rear. There is a
modillioned cornice with guttae, triglyphs and metopes, pedimented dormers, and a pedimented portico
supported by Doric columns. The Hooper House across the street at TAX ID #903-3-3-34 is a c. 1838 Greek
Revival style house attributed to the architect Minard Lafever. The two and one half story, two bay frame
house does not face Suffolk Street but faces east toward Jefferson Street. It has a characteristic Greek Revival
style doorway with transom and sidelights, a portico and triangular windows in the gable. Thereis a later
Italianate style bracketed cornice and a c. 1870’s Victorian side porch with decorative brackets. The houses on
the western section of the street date from the later nineteenth century and from the twentieth century. There
are several houses built for the workers of Fahys Watchcase Company. A good example is the house at TAX
ID #903-6-3-14, part of a group of three. It is a freestanding two story, two bay frame residence with a gabled
roof and little ornament dating from 1880-1900. There are a number of these houses in this part of the village,
all very similar or identical, except for later alterations.

Concord Street is a narrow, one block long street with small, one and one half story houses sited close to the
street and dating from the first half of the nineteenth century. A good example of these Federal and Greek
Revival style residences is the house at Tax ID #903-6-3-5. It is a typical one and one half story Federal style
half house, with clapboard siding, a stone foundation and a side gabled roof. The entrance has an Adamesque
transom above an eight paneled door and a transitional Federal/Greek Revival style entablature with a high
paneled frieze and a mantel shelf cornice. There are flanking wooden benches on the front stoop and

transitional Greek Revival style eyebrow windows.

Rogers Street is a one block long street with no sidewalks and houses sited close to the street. There is a mix of
old, turn-of-the-eighteenth century half houses and modest turn-of-the-nineteenth century resort or workers’
homes. The three old houses are roughly in a row on the west side of the street. The one and one half story
frame houses are altered but have their proportions, roof profile and some details. The house at TAX ID
#903-3-4-60 is the most intact. Dating from about 1800, the one and one half story half house has six-over-six
light windows, modern shingle wall cladding, large center chimney and a mantel shelf entrance with a

fransom.

Henry Street is a two block long, tree lined residential street with sidewalks on both sides. It is lined with one
and one half to two and one half story residences from the early to the late nineteenth century as well as two
houses from the twentieth century. The c. 1850 Gothic Revival style house at TAX ID #903-6-4-22 is an
excellent example of this style in Sag Harbor. The two story frame corner house has clapboard wall cladding
and a gabled roof with characteristic steeply pitched gables on the front and side facades. There are
vergeboards with finials and grouped lancet windows in the gables. There are decorative stained glass
windows, two chimneys unusually set at an angle to the facade and a later nineteenth century front porch. The
house at TAX ID #903-6-4-10 is a characteristic example of the Queen Anne style in Sag Harbor. Dating from
the end of the nineteenth century, this two and one half story shingled house has a typical one story polygonal
bay, front porch with turned posts, and a triple arched window in the gable. The firechouse on Henry just
across Division Street (TAX ID #302-5-1-5) is a good example of a Victorian building. The 1899, two story,
three bay frame building has shingle siding. There is molded door and window trim, a vergeboard and a three
story tower with a mansard roof.







